

SCHOOL OF ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING AND TELECOMMUNICATIONS

Simultaneous Wireless Information and Power Transfer (SWIPT) for IoT Devices by

Anthony Hon-sing Pang

This paper is submitted as the report for my

Master thesis (Electrical Engineering)

December 12, 2018

Abstract

The thesis considers simultaneous wireless information and power transfer (SWIPT) in multi-user multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) systems, where multiple information receiver (IR) and multiple energy receiver (ER) are served by a transmitter and they obtain their desired resource from the same EM wave separately. Existing literatures have proven that SWIPT technology can become a key to unlock the potential of Internet-of-things (IoT), by providing a sustainable and reliable energy source to wireless devices. This thesis aims to design a resource allocation algorithm to guarantee fairness among all ERs, which maximize the minimum harvested energy ER and also providing security to all IRs. A set of non-convex optimization problem is formulated for the design. Key constants we used in the Quality-of-service (QoS) constraints are transmit power budget, the minimum acceptable achievable rate of IR, the maximum tolerable achievable rate of ER. In thesis A, maximum ratio transmission (MRT) is adopted to display suboptimal resource allocation strategy, which also shows the non-trivial tradeoff between average minimum harvested power and minimum required signal-tointerference-and-noise-ratio (SINR). In thesis B, semidefinite-programming (SDP) relaxation is adopted and an optimal solution for the non-convex optimization problem was founded. Additionally, by comparing the result to the suboptimal result, it shows there is a significant performance gain by the proposed optimal scheme.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr Derrick Ng. Without his help, I could not have been completed my thesis B up to this point. I would also like to show my appreciation on his patience on guiding me on the right track of this thesis.

Contents

	Acknowledgements	. 3
	1. Introduction	. 5
	1.1 Background	. 5
	1.2 Communication Security	. 6
	1.3 Notation	. 6
	2. System Model	. 8
	2.1 Channel Model	. 9
	2.1.1 Transmitted Signal	. 9
	2.1.2 Received Signal	. 9
	2.2 Problem Formulation	. 9
	2.2.1 Energy Beamforming	. 9
	2.2.2 Information Beamforming	10
	2.2.3 SWIPT Beamforming	12
	3. Resource Allocation Design	15
	3.1 Suboptimal Solution	15
	3.2 Optimal Solution	16
	4. Simulation	18
	4.1 Simulation Parameters	18
	4.2 Simulation Results	18
	5. Future Development	21
	6. Conclusion	22
Bibliography Bibliography		
	Appendix A - Optimization in Communication	28
	Appendix B - Proof of Theorem 1	29

Chapter 1

Introduction

Thankful to the rapid growing in internet technology, the amount of wireless communication devices have been increasing dramatically and it can be foreseen that the amount of wireless devices would reach up to 50 billion by 2020 around the world [1]. Sensors and wireless communication chips are embedded into the communication devices in order to collect and exchange information and this gives rise to the new era, namely "Internet-Of-Things (IoT)". Since the collected information are all uploaded into the internet, these smart objects which equipped with sensors are capable to provide intelligent daily life services such as sport wearables [3], smart cities [4], e-health [2], IoT in agricultural [5] and poultry [6] and etc.

However, those smart objects are powered by ordinary batteries to facilitate their daily operation. There are several disadvantages in the battery-powered sensors. Firstly, battery has a fixed life span and the lifetime of the smart object is over once the battery runs out of power, therefore this might significantly shorten the lifetime of the smart object. Secondly, as the number of smart objects will still be increasing in the future, if the batteries for each object need to be replaced after it runs out of power, this will be very costly and cumbersome, and hence it will be infeasible to continue the usage of battery-powered sensor. Due to those aforementioned disadvantages, a promising solution to provide ubiquitous and self-sustainable networks is the energy harvesting technology. Traditionally, devices harvested energy from the environment resources (e.g. solar, wind, tidal, biomass, and geothermal[7],[8]), yet this approach is usually climatedependent and location-dependent (e.g. not all places are windy enough to generate sufficient power for the device) and therefore these green resources are not able to provide a reliable and sustainable energy source due to their uncontrollable and intermittent nature. Alternatively, both academia and industry has discovered the concept of wireless energy transfer (WET) as a solution to solve problems of traditional powered sensors [9]-[14], and hence it might be the key to unlock the potential of IoT.

1.1 Background

The concept of WET was proposed by Nikola Tesla back in the late nineteenth and it was implemented by a magnifying transmitter based on the Tesla coil transmitter [14]. Its main idea is to fully exploit the intrinsic energy inside electromagnetic (EM) wave and convert it into usable power and transmit that electrical energy through a wireless link. Generally, WET can be categorized into three classes: inductive coupling, magnetic resonant coupling, and RF-based WET. The first two technologies are near-field WET, which rely on near-field EM waves and there are too many limitations that hinder these technologies to achieve maximum efficiency (i.e. inductive coupling: very low efficiency in long range ;magnetic resonant coupling: low mobility due to an unique circuit alignment set-up), so they do not support the mobility of energy harvesting devices. In contrast,

RF-based WET [9]-[14] is regarded as far-field WET which exploits the far-field properties of EM waves, and this property gives rise to a new line of study, namely simultaneous wireless information and power transfer (SWIPT).

1.2 Communication Security

As the information receivers (IRs) and energy receivers (ERs) extract their desired resources from the same EM wave, it is possible that malicious ER can eavesdrop the intended information for IR. Although SWIPT enables the possibility of transmitting information and power concurrently, this opens up a serious security issue due to the broadcast nature of the wireless medium. Nowadays, the conventional cryptographic encryption which is employed at the application layer is used to provide communication safety [15]. These algorithms require perfect secret key management and distribution in order to work properly, yet this is unlikely to happen in the wireless IoT network [16]. Information-theoretic physical layer security provides an alternative other than the cryptographic encryption [17]-[20]. In the computer networking's Open System Interconnect (OSI) model, physical layer is the lowest and also the first layer. The physical layer security aims at providing secure communication via fully exploiting all the physical properties of a wireless communication channel [21].

On the other hand, mobility and portability of transmit antennas is a major concern in the future IoT networks, since this may cause the smart objects to be too bulky if the size of antenna is too large. Yet, severe path loss is a significant problem in transmitting information signal with a high carrier frequency in order to maintain the antenna size [22] (e.g. refer to the Friis equation, the receive power reduces by four times when the separation distance between transmit end and receive end is doubled). In order to overcome the path loss effect, the transmitter had to increase the energy of the information signal, but this also increases the information leakage. Hence, quality-of-service (QoS) constraints are designed to protect the conflict of interest between IR and ERs. Additionally, various technologies such as energy beamforming and artificial jamming have been proposed to compensate the increase in susceptibility. In particular, artificial jamming is an effective solution which intentionally adds an artificial noise so as to degrade the quality of eavesdropper's channel and reduce the effective information received from those malicious ERs [23],[47].

1.3 Notation

All used mathematical notations in this thesis are given in Table 1.1. Vectors and matrices are represented by boldface lower and capital case letters, respectively. Rank(V), Tr(V), and V^H are the rank, the trace, and Hermitian transpose of the matrix V, respectively. $V \geq 0$ means V is a positive semi-definite matrix. E{.} denotes statistical expectation. $CN(\mu, \sigma)$, which has a mean vector μ and covariance matrix σ , is used to represent the circularly symmetric complex Gaussian (CSCG) distribution. $\mathbb{C}^{N \times M}$ represents the $N \times M$ sets with complex entries.

Table 1.1: Mathematical Notations used in this report

Notation	Description	
W _k	Information beamforming vector	
v	Energy signal that act as artificial noise	
G_j	Channel response between the ER_j and the transmitter	
H _k	Channel response between the IR_k and the transmitter	
n_{IR_k}	Noise power in the channel between IR_k and the transmitter	
n_{ER_j}	Noise power in the channel between ER_j and the transmitter	
P _{max}	Total transmit power budget	
C_k , C_k^{ER}	IR and ER achievable rate	
R _{min}	Minimum required achievable rate of IR	
R _{tol}	Maximum tolerable achievable rate of ER	

Chapter 2

System Model

Our system model is a downlink SWIPT system, c.f. Figure 2.1. We have a transmitter equipped with N_T antennas, K Information receivers and J Energy receivers. The IR is a single antenna device and the ER is a multiple-antenna device. In this thesis work, we will assume that the channel state information (CSI) for both the transmitter and receiver is known for resource allocation, which this facilitates a reliable communication with sufficiently high data rates in multiple-antenna systems. Besides, we will also assume the IRs are placed relatively further than ERs in order to avoid the hardware limitations of circuit models in IRs and ERs.

In the considered SWIPT model, IRs can only receive information while ERs can only harvest power, which are served by the same transmitter. Each kind of receiver has its own channel response. (c.f. Refer to Figure 2.1, the channel response of IR and ER are **H** and **G**, respectively) If the channel achievable rate for ER is sufficiently large enough, the ERs also can eavesdrop the intended information to the IRs.



Figure 2.1: A downlink SWIPT model with K IRs and J ERs.

The following parts in this thesis is organized as follow: In section 2.1, the fundamental energy equations which are used for this thesis are covered. In section 2.2, energy beamforming and information beamforming are considered. In section 2.3, the SWIPT beamforming with both energy and information transmission is considered.

2.1 **Channel Model**

2.1.1 Transmitted Signal

With energy signal adopted, the transmitted signal vector \mathbf{y} is provided as below

$$y = ws + v \tag{1}$$

where $w \in \mathbb{C}^{N_T \times 1}$ is the information beamforming vector which is a user-adjustable parameter in the transmitter side, $s \in \mathbb{C}$ is the transmitted data symbol. Without loss of generality, we assume that $\varepsilon\{|s^2|\} = 1$. v is a pseudo-random energy signal and modeled as a complex Gaussian random vector with zero mean and covariance matrix V, i.e. $\boldsymbol{v} \sim \mathsf{C}N(0, \boldsymbol{V}).$

2.1.2 Received Signal

The slow time-varying frequency flat communication channel is considered. As the transmitter transmits energy and beamforming concurrently to IRs and ERs at a single time frame, the received signals at IR and ER, $k \in \{1, ..., K\}$ and $j \in \{1, ..., J\}$ are given by

$$y_{IR} = H_k^H(\boldsymbol{w}_k \boldsymbol{s} + \boldsymbol{v}) + n_{IR_k}, \forall k \in \{1, \dots, K\}$$

$$y_{RR} = G_k^H(\boldsymbol{w}_k \boldsymbol{s} + \boldsymbol{v}) + n_{RR_k}, \forall i \in \{1, \dots, J\}$$
(2)
(3)

$$y_{ER} = G_j^H(\boldsymbol{w}_k \boldsymbol{s} + \boldsymbol{v}) + n_{ER_j}, \forall j \in \{1, \dots, J\}$$
(3)

respectively, where H_k^H and G_i^H are channel responses between the transmitter and IR_k , and transmitter and ER_i , respectively. Both channel vectors capture the impact of small scale fading, path loss, and large scale fading of the associated channels [24]. n_{IR_k} and n_{ER_i} are the additional white Gaussian noise (AWGN) of IR_k and ER_i , respectively, both have zero mean and variance σ_{IR}^2 and σ_{ER}^2 , respectively.

2.2 **Problem Formulation**

2.2.1 Energy Beamforming

In this section, only the energy transmission and conversion process between the transmitter to the ER module is considered. Figure 2.2 shows the block diagram of an ER. Existing literatures describe different kind of RF-based EH circuits via various hardware architectures [25]-[27], therefore we do not assume a specific hardware design. In this thesis, we assume the harvested energy and transmitted power is linearly proportional to each other, and this can avoid all the effects from any particular hardware implementation that might complicate our problem. The transmitted signal is given as $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{v}$, the harvested energy at ER_j , $\phi_{ER_j}^{Linear}$, can be modelled in a linear relationship (c.f. Equation (2)) [28],[29]:

$$\phi_{ER_i}^{Linear} = \eta_j P_{ER_i} \tag{2}$$

$$P_{ER_j} = \mathbb{E}\left\{ \left| \boldsymbol{G}_j^H \boldsymbol{x} \right|^2 \right\}$$
(3)

$$= Tr(\mathbb{E}\{\boldsymbol{v}\boldsymbol{v}^{H}\}\boldsymbol{G}_{i}\boldsymbol{G}_{i}^{H})$$

$$\tag{4}$$

$$= Tr(\boldsymbol{V}\boldsymbol{G}_{i}\boldsymbol{G}_{i}^{H}) \tag{5}$$

Refer to (4), $\eta_j \in [0,1]$ is the radio-frequency(RF)-to-electrical energy conversion efficiency and V is the transmit covariance matrix of the energy signal and P_{ER_j} is the received power from the RF generator.



Figure 2.2: Energy transfer flow from the transmitter to the ER

From ER perspective and without consideration on the information secrecy, we can formulate Problem 1:

Problem 1: Minimum Harvested Power Maximization

$$\max_{W,V} \min_{j\{1,j\}} \mu_j \left[Tr \left(\boldsymbol{G}_j \boldsymbol{G}_j^H \left(\sum_{k=1}^K \boldsymbol{w}_k \, \boldsymbol{w}_k^H + \, \boldsymbol{v} \boldsymbol{v}^H \right) \right) \right]$$
(6)
subject to

$$C1: Tr(V) + \sum_{k=1}^K ||\boldsymbol{w}_k||^2 \leq P_{max}$$

$$C2: W \geq \mathbf{0}$$

where P_{max} is the maximum transmit power budget constructed by the artificial noise and the transmitter and the term equipped with trace in the objective optimization equation denotes the total received power at the ER side. In Problem 1, we aim to maximize the minimum harvested power among J ERs while guaranteeing the total transmit power would not exceed the maximum transmit power budget.

2.2.2 Information Beamforming

In this section, only the information transmission between the transmitter and the IR is considered. As mentioned earlier, one way to increase the harvested power efficiently is by increasing the transmit power, but the trade-off of this method is the increase in the susceptibility to eavesdropping because of the associated higher signal power in information leakage. Therefore, it is essential to maintain the harvested energy level and also protect the information secrecy for IR users.

One key parameter to measure security is the secrecy rate and this measures the difference between the achievable rate of IR_k and ER_j , c.f. Equation (9), where C_k and C_k^{ER} are the achievable rate of IRs and ERs, respectively.

Secrecy rate =
$$\left[C_k - C_k^{ER}\right]^+$$
 (7)

In general, if the secrecy rate is sufficiently large enough, this provides a certain extent of security to the IRs. To guarantee the security of IR, it is preferential to maximize the secrecy rate by enlarging former term and minimizing latter term.

From the IR perspective, the minimum harvested power maximization design with concern of secrecy can be formulated as Problem 2:



In Problem 2, we try to maximize the secrecy rate by ensuring the achievable rate of IR to be larger than a pre-determined value (i.e. R_{min}) and limiting the achievable rate of ER to be smaller than a maximum tolerable value (i.e. R_{tol}), while guaranteeing transmit power must not exceed the transmit power budget.

2.2.3 SWIPT Beamforming

In this section, both information and energy transfer are all considered. For ERs, the minimum harvested energy is to be maximized while for the IR, the secrecy rate is to be maximized so as to prevent malicious ERs to eavesdrop any information that is for IRs. In order to meet the aforementioned requirements for the problem, we can formulate a generalized form for the minimum harvested power maximization as Problem 3:

Problem 3: Minimum harvested power maximization $\begin{aligned}
\max_{\mathbf{W},\mathbf{V}} \min_{j\{1,j\}} \mu_{j} \left[Tr \left(G_{j}G_{j}^{H} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{K} \boldsymbol{w}_{k} \boldsymbol{w}_{k}^{H} + \boldsymbol{v}\boldsymbol{v}^{H} \right) \right) \right] \quad (11) \\
\text{subject to} \\
C1: Tr(\mathbf{V}) + \sum_{k=1}^{K} \|\boldsymbol{w}_{k}\|^{2} \leq P_{max} \\
C2: C_{k} \geq R_{min}, \forall k \\
C3: C_{k}^{ER} \leq R_{tol} \\
C4: \mathbf{V} \succeq \mathbf{0} \\
C5: \mathbf{W} \succeq \mathbf{0} \\
C6: Rank(\mathbf{W}) \leq 1
\end{aligned}$

In Problem 3, C1 limits the total power from the transmitter and the artificial noise must not exceed the transmit power budget; C2 ensures the achievable rate of IR_k is larger than a pre-determined minimum value, while C3 limits the achievable rate of any ERs to be smaller than a maximum tolerable value.

However, we need to derive the problem in a generalized form, as the constraint C2 and C3 are not in the most generalized form. As mentioned earlier, the achievable rate of either IR or ER are both the channel capacity between the transmitter and themselves, and therefore we can apply the Shannon-Hartley theorem and the substituted equations for C2 and C3 are given by, c.f. (12) and (13).

$$C2: \log_2\left(1 + \frac{\left|\boldsymbol{h}_k^{H} \boldsymbol{w}_k\right|^2}{\sum_{j \neq k} \left|\boldsymbol{h}_k^{H} \boldsymbol{w}_k\right|^2 + Tr(\boldsymbol{h}_k \boldsymbol{h}_k^{H} \boldsymbol{V}_k) + \sigma_k^2}\right) \ge R_{min}$$
(9)

C3:
$$\log_{2}\left(1 + \frac{|\boldsymbol{g}_{j}^{H}\boldsymbol{w}_{k}|^{2}}{\sum_{j \neq k} |\boldsymbol{g}_{j}^{H}\boldsymbol{w}_{k}|^{2} + Tr(\boldsymbol{g}_{j}\boldsymbol{g}_{j}^{H}\boldsymbol{V}_{k}) + \sigma_{k}^{2}}\right) \geq R_{tol}$$
(10)

 $\begin{array}{l} \text{Proposition 1.1. For } R_{min} > 0, \forall j, \text{ the following implication holds for constraint} \\ \text{C2 and the new C2* is given by:} \\ | \boldsymbol{h_k}^H \boldsymbol{w_k} |^2 \geq \mu_{req} \left[\sum_{j \neq k} \lvert \boldsymbol{h_k}^H \boldsymbol{w_k} \rvert^2 + Tr \bigl(\boldsymbol{h_k} \boldsymbol{h_k}^H \boldsymbol{V} \bigr) + {\sigma_k}^2 \right] \end{array}$

Where
$$\mu_{reg} = 2^{R_{min}} - 1$$
 is an auxiliary constant

Now, we apply Proposition 1.1 to (12) and (13) and replacing the original constraint C2 with constraint C2* and also C3 with constraint C3*. After that, we rewrite the optimization problem as Problem 4:

Problem 4: Minimum harvested power maximization

$$\begin{aligned} \max_{\mathbf{W},\mathbf{V}} \min_{j\{1,j\}} \mu_{j} \left[Tr \left(\boldsymbol{G}_{j} \boldsymbol{G}_{j}^{H} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{K} \boldsymbol{w}_{k} \boldsymbol{w}_{k}^{H} + \boldsymbol{v} \boldsymbol{v}^{H} \right) \right) \right] \quad (11) \\ \text{subject to} \\ C1: \ Tr(\mathbf{V}) + \sum_{k=1}^{K} \|\boldsymbol{w}_{k}\|^{2} \leq P_{max} \\ C2^{*}: \left| \boldsymbol{h}_{k}^{H} \boldsymbol{w}_{k} \right|^{2} \geq \mu_{req} \left[\sum_{j\neq k} \left| \left| \boldsymbol{h}_{k}^{H} \boldsymbol{w}_{k} \right| \right|^{2} + Tr \left(\boldsymbol{h}_{k} \boldsymbol{h}_{k}^{H} \boldsymbol{V} \right) + \sigma_{k}^{2} \right], \forall k \\ C3^{*}: \left| \boldsymbol{g}_{j}^{H} \boldsymbol{w}_{k} \right|^{2} \geq \mu_{req} \left[\sum_{j\neq k} \left| \boldsymbol{g}_{j}^{H} \boldsymbol{w}_{k} \right|^{2} + Tr \left(\boldsymbol{g}_{j} \boldsymbol{g}_{j}^{H} \boldsymbol{V} \right) + \sigma_{k}^{2} \right] \\ C4: \ \mathbf{V} \succeq \mathbf{0} \\ C5: \ \mathbf{W} \succeq \mathbf{0} \\ C6: \ Rank(\mathbf{W}) \leq 1 \end{aligned}$$

In the last step, we simplify the objective optimization problem by replacing it by τ and introducing a new constraint C7 and rewrite the problem as Problem 5, which is the generalized form. Besides, for simplicity, $W = ww^H$ and $V = vv^H$ are new optimization variable matrix and adopted in Problem 5. The highlighted constraints are non-convex functions, which requires additional work to solve and will be discussed in the next chapter.

Chapter 3

Resource Allocation Design

3.1 Suboptimal Solution

In the previous chapter, a generalized optimal beamforming problem (i.e. Problem 5) is derived, which takes account in the strict requirement on energy transmission and information security. Yet, it is very difficult to directly solve the problem due to the presence of two non-convex constraints (i.e. C2* and C3*), because there are no systematic way to solve them. In a non-convex function, it might have multiple local maximum and minimum points [30]. In general, exhaustive search method may be adopted to find the globally optimal solution by calculating the associated values at a number of equally spaced points [56], however the computational complexity grows exponentially with respect to number of antennas and ERs, and hence this search method is not feasible when considering medium and large size of systems (i.e. MIMO). In the following work, we first consider some suboptimal designs by using Maximum Ratio Transmission (MRT) [15]. After that, we formulate the optimal solution based on the concept of Semidefinite Programming (SDP) Relaxation.

MRT-based Suboptimal Solution

Generally, one efficient way to solve the non-convex problem is to start by transforming the non-convex problems into convex and then solve the transformed problem by the use of some convex optimization techniques. The algorithm we will use is the MRT and its suboptimal algorithm is presented in Table 3.1 below, and this algorithm only interests in maximizing the gain in the signal of interest direction while disregarding the potential interferences. After transforming the problem to convex, we use a convex problem solver, namely CVX [31] to solve the convex problem in a systematic approach.

Table 3.1 Suboptimal Resource Allocation Algorithm

Algorithm Suboptimal Optimization					
1.	Initialize the maximum transmit power budget(P_{max}), the minimum IR achievable rate(R_{min}) and maximum tolerable ER achievable rate (R_{tol}), and the minimum required harvested power for the target ER(P_{min})				
2.	Repeat {Loop}				
3.	Adopt a fixed beamforming direction pointing at $rac{g_*}{\ g\ }$				
4.	Optimize the transmit power of the beamforming vector				
5.	Solve Problem 5 with convex problem matlab solver (e.g. CVX)				

6. If Problem 5 is feasible then

7.
$$P_{min} = P_{min} - \varphi$$
, (φ is a small positive constant)

8. end if

9. Until Problem 5 becomes infeasible

3.2 Optimal Solution

In Problem (6), the non-convexity arises due to the constraint C2*, C3* and the rankone matrix constraint C6. The SDP relaxation is an alternative to obtain a tractable and optimal solution. In general, SDP relaxation is a strategy that relaxes non-convex constraints and transform the problem to a convex SDP problem [32], so it can be solved optimally and efficiently by CVX [33].



Note that from problem (6), the constraint C6 is relaxed due to SDP relaxation. As a result, the whole optimization problem is convex and solvable. However if Rank(W) > 1 occurs, the relaxation may not be tight and thus further proof is required to reveal the tightness of the adopted SDP relaxation in (6) by the following theorm:

Theorm 1. Assume the channels **H** and **G** are statistically independent and the trnasformed problem in (6) is feasible, it is always possible to construct an at-most rank-one beamforming matrix W, i.e. $Rank(W) \leq 1$

Proof: Please refer to the Appendix

Since rank of the beamforming matrix is limited to 1, the implemented SDP relaxation is always tight as long as the conditions in Theorm 1 are fulfilled. Hence, there is an optimal solution that satisfies the transformation problem and it is also feasible to maximize the minimum amount of harvested power by ER_i while providing security to IR_k .

Chapter 4

Simulation

4.1 Simulation Parameters

In this section, all the important simulation parameters being used throughout the simulation process are specified in Table 4.1. Besides, as mentioned earlier, we assume the IR is placed relatively further than the ERs in order to avoid circuit saturation, (i.e. In the simulation environment, the IR is placed 100 meters away from the transmitter and all ERs are 10 meters away from the transmitter).

Carrier center frequency	915 MHz		
Small-scale fading distribution	Rician fading with Rician factor 3 dB		
Transmit power budget, P_{max}	46 dBm		
Total noise variance, σ_s^2	-23 dBm		
Number of receive antennas at each ER	2		
Receive antenna gain	6 dB		
Maximum tolerable channel capacity	1 bit/s/Hz		
at ERs, R_{ER_j}			
RF energy to electrical energy conver-	0.5		
sion efficiency for ER_j, μ_j			

Table 4.1: Parameters used in simulation

4.2 Simulation Results

Figure 4.2.1 below shows the non-trivial trade-off between average minimum harvested energy and minimum required signal-to-interference-and-noise-ratio (SINR) for the SWIPT model under **suboptimal beamforming scheme**. Generally, all the points lie inside or on the curve can be achieved by changing the relevant system parameters. By

comparing different results for different transmit antenna numbers, it can be concluded that increase in number of transmit antennas results in a substantial increase in harvested energy when the minimum required SINR is the same. This is because more transmit antennas improve the accuracy in beamforming and thus the associated performance (i.e. a sharper and narrower main lobe which focuses most of its energy in the signal of interest direction), and therefore this provides an extra spatial degrees of freedom. Besides, the minimum harvested power decreases with increasing minimum required SINR, and this can be explained by the resource allocation between the ERs and IRs, respectively. Since the overall resource is scarce and limited, the enlargement in minimum required SINR introduces a more stringent requirement (i.e. C2 becomes more stringent), this forces the transmitter to allocate more resources to IR and hence less resource is allocated to ERs.



Figure 4.2.1: Average minimum harvested power (dBm) versus minimum required SINR Γ_{rea} (dB)

Figure 4.2.2 below shows the non-trivial trade-off between average minimum harvested energy and minimum required SINR for the SWIPT model under the **optimal beamforming scheme**. By comparing the results under the optimal and suboptimal beamforming scheme, it can be seen from the graph that the achievable region enclosed by the optimal beamforming scheme is larger than the suboptimal beamforming scheme. Additionally, the maximum minimum harvested energy under the optimal scheme is larger than the suboptimal scheme is larger



Figure 4.2.2: Average minimum harvested power (dBm) versus minimum required SINR Γ_{req} (dB)

Figure 4.2.3 below shows the relationship between average minimum harvested energy and transmit power budget for the SWIPT model under the optimal beamforming scheme. It can also be seen that increase in number of transmit antennas results in a performance gain in the minimum harvested power. Moreover, the minimum harvested power increases with increasing transmit power budget (i.e. P_{max}). This is because of the relaxation in the QoS constraint (i.e. C1), and there is more radiation power available in the system for ERs to utilize [21], which also means there are additional resources for them to harvest.



Figure 4.2.3: Average minimum harvested power (dBm) versus transmit power budget (dBm)

Chapter 5

Future Development

As I completed my thesis B work, there are still some future developments that should be done in order to optimize my thesis topic. The first thing is to extend the current study of perfect CSI to imperfect CSI [34]-[37], as it is very difficult to have perfect CSI in real-life, and hence the validity of the results is higher, but this might complicate the existing problem due to more factors are taken into consideration (e.g. channel effects to the signal need to be considered). The second thing to do is to use the non-linear energy harvesting (EH) model inside the ER module [38]-[40], as it is optimistic in assuming the harvested energy and the RF received energy is linearly proportional to one another, so this can more accurately characterize the non-linearity of practical EH circuits. The last thing to do is to extend the scope of the work from multi-user MIMO to the massive MIMO system, which there are a massive number of IRs and ERs to serve by the transmitter, and also future research should focus on the advancement in computational efficiency of precoding design [41].

Chapter 6

Conclusion

WET has been foreseen that they have the potential to become the key and unlock potential of IoT. With the advancement in wireless technologies (e.g. massive MIMO), these technologies provide an extra spatial degrees of freedom to optimize the beamforming performance, and hence they can be adopted to provide a better self-sustainable and secure communication in the SWIPT model. In this thesis, our aim is to design a resource allocation algorithm to ensure ER user's fairness and IR user's security. We successfully formulated the beamforming design for the SWIPT systems as a generalized non-convex optimization problem (c.f. Problem 5). At first, we adopt the MRT to determine a suboptimal solution for the problem. By exploiting SDP relaxation, we were able to solve the non-convex optimization problem optimally. After solving the problem, we display the optimal solution of the proposed optimal algorithm via Matlab simulation. Results reveal the non-trivial trade-off between the minimum harvested energy and the minimum required SINR due to the stringent requirements on different QoS constraints. Besides, we observe that the maximum minimum harvested energy was enlarged by equipping more transmit antenna and enlargement of transmit power budget. Nonetheless, possible future developments on extending the scope of our current work is discussed in the previous chapter.

References

[1] Z. Ding *et al.*, "Application of smart antenna technologies in simultaneous wireless information and power transfer," in *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 86-93, April 2015.

[2] C. Raj, C. Jain and W. Arif, "HEMAN: Health monitoring and nous: An IoT based ehealth care system for remote telemedicine," 2017 International Conference on Wireless Communications, Signal Processing and Networking (WiSPNET), Chennai, 2017, pp. 2115-2119.

[3] S. Yadav and G. Howells, "Analysis of ICMetrics features/technology for wearable devices IOT sensors," 2017 Seventh International Conference on Emerging Security Technologies (EST), Canterbury, 2017, pp. 175-178.

[4] A. Alkhamisi, M. S. H. Nazmudeen and S. M. Buhari, "A cross-layer framework for sensor data aggregation for IoT applications in smart cities," 2016 IEEE International Smart Cities Conference (ISC2), Trento, 2016, pp. 1-6.

[5] M. Lee, J. Hwang and H. Yoe, "Agricultural Production System Based on IoT," 2013 IEEE 16th International Conference on Computational Science and Engineering, Sydney, NSW, 2013, pp. 833-837.

[6] A. A. G. Raj and J. G. Jayanthi, "IoT-based real-time poultry monitoring and health status identification," 2018 11th International Symposium on Mechatronics and its Applications (ISMA), Sharjah, 2018, pp. 1-7.

[7] I. Ahmed, A. Ikhlef, D. W. K. Ng and R. Schober, "Power Allocation for an Energy Harvesting Transmitter with Hybrid Energy Sources," in IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, vol. 12, no. 12, pp. 6255-6267, December 2013.

[8] D. W. K. Ng, E. S. Lo and R. Schober, "Energy-Efficient Resource Allocation in OFDMA Systems with Hybrid Energy Harvesting Base Station," in IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 3412-3427, July 2013.

[9] S. Y. Prawiro and M. A. Murti, "Wireless power transfer solution for smart charger with RF energy harvesting in public area," 2018 IEEE 4th World Forum on Internet of Things (WF-IoT), Singapore, 2018, pp. 103-106.

[10] U. Baroudi, "Robot-Assisted Maintenance of Wireless Sensor Networks Using Wireless Energy Transfer," in IEEE Sensors Journal, vol. 17, no. 14, pp. 4661-4671, 15 July15, 2017. [11] A. Ö. Ercan, M. O. Sunay and I. F. Akyildiz, "RF Energy Harvesting and Transfer for Spectrum Sharing Cellular IoT Communications in 5G Systems," in IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing, vol. 17, no. 7, pp. 1680-1694, 1 July 2018.

[12] D. Tomtsis, G. Kokkonis and S. Kontogiannis, "Evaluating existing wireless technologies for IoT data transferring," 2017 South Eastern European Design Automation, Computer Engineering, Computer Networks and Social Media Conference (SEEDA-CECNSM), Kastoria, 2017, pp. 1-4.

[13] A. Takacs, A. Okba, H. Aubert, S. Charlot and P. Calmon, "Recent advances in electromagnetic energy harvesting and Wireless Power Transfer for IoT and SHM applications," 2017 IEEE International Workshop of Electronics, Control, Measurement, Signals and their Application to Mechatronics (ECMSM), Donostia-San Sebastian, 2017, pp. 1-4.

[14] Tesla Memorial Society of New York, "Nikola Tesla's Idea of Wireless Transmission of Electrical Energy is a solution for World Energy Crisis," 2011." [Online]. Available: http://www.teslasociety.com/tesla tower.htm

[15] D. W. K. Ng and R. Schober, "Max-min fair wireless energy transfer for secure multiuser communication systems," 2014 IEEE Information Theory Workshop (ITW 2014), Hobart, TAS, 2014, pp. 326-330.

[16] D.W.K.Ng, S. Leng, and R. Schober. *Multiple Antennas and Beamforming for SWIPT Systems*. Cambridge University Press, 2016, pp. 170-216.

[17] J. Zhu, R. Schober and V. K. Bhargava, "Secure Transmission in Multicell Massive MIMO Systems," in IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, vol. 13, no. 9, pp. 4766-4781, Sept. 2014.

[18] S. Liu, Y. Hong and E. Viterbo, "Practical Secrecy using Artificial Noise," in IEEE Communications Letters, vol. 17, no. 7, pp. 1483-1486, July 2013.

[19] S. Goel and R. Negi, "Guaranteeing Secrecy using Artificial Noise," in IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 2180-2189, June 2008.

[20] J. Chen, X. Chen, W. H. Gerstacker and D. W. K. Ng, "Resource Allocation for a Massive MIMO Relay Aided Secure Communication," in IEEE Transactions on Information Forensics and Security, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 1700-1711, Aug. 2016.

[21] D. W. K. Ng, R. Schober and H. Alnuweiri, "Secure layered transmission in multicast systems with wireless information and power transfer," 2014 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC), Sydney, NSW, 2014, pp. 5389-5395.

[22] X. Chen, J. Chen and T. Liu, "Secure wireless information and power transfer in large-scale MIMO relaying systems with imperfect CSI," 2014 IEEE Global Communications Conference, Austin, TX, 2014, pp. 4131-4136.

[23] J. Zhu, V. K. Bhargava and R. Schober, "Secure Downlink Transmission in Massive MIMO System with Zero-Forcing Precoding," European Wireless 2014; 20th European Wireless Conference, Barcelona, Spain, 2014, pp. 1-6.

[24]D. W. K. Ng, E. S. Lo and R. Schober, "Multiobjective Resource Allocation for Secure Communication in Cognitive Radio Networks With Wireless Information and Power Transfer," in IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, vol. 65, no. 5, pp. 3166-3184, May 2016.

[25] B. Clerckx, R. Zhang, R. Schober, D. W. K. Ng, D. I. Kim and H. V. Poor, "Fundamentals of Wireless Information and Power Transfer: From RF Energy Harvester Models to Signal and System Designs," in IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications.

[26] R. Morsi, E. Boshkovska, E. Ramadan, D. W. K. Ng and R. Schober, "On the performance of wireless powered communication with non-linear energy harvesting," 2017 IEEE 18th International Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communications (SPAWC), Sapporo, 2017, pp. 1-5.

[27] E. Boshkovska, D. W. K. Ng and R. Schober, "Power-Efficient and Secure WPCNs with Residual Hardware Impairments and a Non-Linear EH Model," GLOBECOM 2017 - 2017 IEEE Global Communications Conference, Singapore, 2017, pp. 1-7.

[28] I. Krikidis, S. Timotheou, S. Nikolaou, G. Zheng, D. W. K. Ng and R. Schober, "Simultaneous wireless information and power transfer in modern communication systems," in IEEE Communications Magazine, vol. 52, no. 11, pp. 104-110, Nov. 2014.

[29] X. Chen, Z. Zhang, H. Chen and H. Zhang, "Enhancing wireless information and power transfer by exploiting multi-antenna techniques," in IEEE Communications Magazine, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 133-141, April 2015.

[30] C. A. Floudas, *Nonlinear and Mixed-Integer Optimization: Fundamentals and Applications*, 1st ed. Oxford University Press, 1995.

[31] M. Grant and S. Boyd, "CVX: Matlab software for disciplined convex programming, version 2.1," http://cvxr.com/cvx, Mar. 2014.

[32] J. Liu, T. Kou, Q. Chen and H. D. Sherali, "Femtocell Base Station Deployment in Commercial Buildings: A Global Optimization Approach," in IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 652-663, April 2012.

[33]Q. Li, W. Ma and A. M. So, "Safe convex approximation to outage-based MISO secrecy rate optimization under imperfect CSI and with artificial noise," 2011 Conference Record of the Forty Fifth Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems and Computers (ASI-LOMAR), Pacific Grove, CA, 2011, pp. 207-211.

[34] G. Li and A. Hu, "MISO secrecy transmission via designing artificial noise by receiver under perfect and imperfect CSI," 2016 2nd IEEE International Conference on Computer and Communications (ICCC), Chengdu, 2016, pp. 2664-2668. [35] Z. Wang and W. Chen, "Relay Beamforming Design with SIC Detection for MIMO Multirelay Networks with Imperfect CSI," in IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, vol. 62, no. 8, pp. 3774-3785, Oct. 2013.

[36] Luping Zhang et al., "The performance of the MIMO physical layer security system with imperfect CSI," 2016 IEEE Conference on Communications and Network Security (CNS), Philadelphia, PA, 2016, pp. 346-347.

[37] R. Masmoudi, E. V. Belmega and I. Fijalkow, "Impact of imperfect CSI on resource allocation in cognitive radio channels," 2017 IEEE 13th International Conference on Wireless and Mobile Computing, Networking and Communications (WiMob), Rome, 2017, pp. 293-299.

[38] E. Boshkovska, D. W. K. Ng, N. Zlatanov and R. Schober, "Practical Non-Linear Energy Harvesting Model and Resource Allocation for SWIPT Systems," in IEEE Communications Letters, vol. 19, no. 12, pp. 2082-2085, Dec. 2015.

[39] E. Boshkovska, N. Zlatanov, L. Dai, D. W. K. Ng and R. Schober, "Secure SWIPT Networks Based on a Non-Linear Energy Harvesting Model," 2017 IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference Workshops (WCNCW), San Francisco, CA, 2017, pp. 1-6.

[40] E. Boshkovska, D. W. K. Ng, N. Zlatanov, A. Koelpin and R. Schober, "Robust Resource Allocation for MIMO Wireless Powered Communication Networks Based on a Non-Linear EH Model," in IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 65, no. 5, pp. 1984-1999, May 2017.

[41] R. Heath, S. Peters, Y. Wang and J. Zhang, "A current perspective on distributed antenna systems for the downlink of cellular systems," in IEEE Communications Magazine, vol. 51, no. 4, pp. 161-167, April 2013.

[42] Zhi-Quan Luo and Wei Yu, "An introduction to convex optimization for communications and signal processing," in IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, vol. 24, no. 8, pp. 1426-1438, Aug. 2006.

[43] Y. Sun, P. Babu and D. P. Palomar, "Majorization-Minimization Algorithms in Signal Processing, Communications, and Machine Learning," in IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, vol. 65, no. 3, pp. 794-816, 1 Feb.1, 2017.

[44] Wei Yu and R. Lui, "Dual methods for nonconvex spectrum optimization of multicarrier systems," in IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 54, no. 7, pp. 1310-1322, July 2006.

[45] M. Ghamkhari and H. Mohsenian-Rad, "A Convex Optimization Framework for Service Rate Allocation in Finite Communications Buffers," in IEEE Communications Letters, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 69-72, Jan. 2016.

[46] W. Zhou et al., "Cross-layer Dynamic Bandwidth Allocation Algorithm Based on Convex Optimization Theory In satellite communication system," 2017 16th International Conference on Optical Communications and Networks (ICOCN), Wuzhen, 2017, pp. 1-3.

[47]H. Wang, C. Wang, D. W. K. Ng, M. H. Lee and J. Xiao, "Artificial Noise Assisted Secure Transmission for Distributed Antenna Systems," in IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, vol. 64, no. 15, pp. 4050-4064, 1 Aug.1, 2016.

[48] Q. T. Dinh and M. Diehl, "Local Convergence of sequential Convex Programming for Nonlinear Programming," in *Chapter of Recent Advances in Optimization and Its Application in Engineering*. Oxford University Press, 2010.

[49] J. F. Sturm,"Implementation of Interior Point Methods for Mixed Semidefinite and Second Order Cone Optimization Problems," *Optim. Meth. Softw.*, vol. 17,pp. 1105-1154, Aug. 2002.

[50] Zhi-Quan Luo and Wei Yu, "An introduction to convex optimization for communications and signal processing," in IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, vol. 24, no. 8, pp. 1426-1438, Aug. 2006.

[51] Y. Jong, "An Efficient Global Optimization Algorithm for Nonlinear Sum-of-Ratios Problem," May 2012. [Online]. Available: http://www.optimizationonline.org/DBFILE/2012/08/3586.pdf

[52] Y. Feng, Z. Yang, W. Zhu, Q. Li and B. Lv, "Robust Cooperative Secure Beamforming for Simultaneous Wireless Information and Power Transfer in Amplify-and-Forward Relay Networks," in IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, vol. 66, no. 3, pp. 2354-2366, March 2017.

[53] G. Pan, C. Tang, T. Li and Y. Chen, "Secrecy Performance Analysis for SIMO Simultaneous Wireless Information and Power Transfer Systems," in IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 63, no. 9, pp. 3423-3433, Sept. 2015.

[54] "MOSEK ApS: Software for Large-Scale Mathematical Optimization Problems, Version 7.0.0.111," Apr.2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.mosek.com/

[55] "GUROBI Optimization, State-of-the-Art Mathematical Programming Solver, v5.6," Apr. 2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.gurobi.com/

[56] O. K. Erol and I. Eksin, "Coordinate exhaustive search initialization for big bang big crunch optimization algorithm," *2017 10th International Conference on Electrical and Electronics Engineering (ELECO)*, Bursa, 2017, pp. 933-937.

Appendix A

Appendix A-Optimization in Communication

The use of optimization methods is ubiquitous in communications and signal processing [42]. Optimization is a filtration process that selects the best decision from few sets of available alternatives that are subject to some kind of criterions. In general, an optimization problem can be to minimize an objective function that several constraints are given and the outcome solution must be selected on the basis of strictly satisfying the given constraints [43],[50].

From the communication perspective, optimization is a powerful analytic tool to convert real-life complicated communication systems into discrete mathematical models for problem solving, for example it is useful to use mathematical variables to represent throughput and system's secrecy rate [45],[46], and this allows us to visualize those intangible quantities and guarantee certain level of performance or security in the design of system model. An optimization problem can usually represent in the form of:

minimize
$$f(\mathbf{x})$$
 (A.1)
subject to $g(\mathbf{x}) \leq 0$
 $h(\mathbf{x}) = 0$

where **x** is the desired varaible to optimize and f is the objective function

After formulating a set or optimization problem to represent a real-life problem, the next thing is to know how to solve an optimization problem. The major issue to encounter when solving this kind of problem is the problem's convexity. The convexity of problem will determine the difficulty on solving this problem, and also it can tell us on how to solve this problem in a robust, efficient and distributed way [30].

A.1 Convexity

In general, convexity can be categorized into two main types which are convex and nonconvex. There is a systematic way to solve convex problems optimally due to the fact that the local minimum is also the global minimum in a convex problem [44], and hence it is a easy task to optimise a convex problem. On the other hand, as a non-convex problem may have multiple local optimum points, the locally optimal solutions may not be the globally optimal ones [48], and therefore it is difficult to determine the optimal solution. Moreover, we may encounter some non-convex problems in real-life, so one powerful technique to handle non-convex problem is the SDP relaxation [49].

A.2 KKT

In general, many optimization algorithms can be understood as methods for numberically solving the Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) conditions [51]. Let \mathbf{x} , \mathbf{y} be the dual and \mathbf{z} be the primary variables for the Lagrangian function. Equations below are considered as the KKT conditions on Lagrangian function A.1.

$$x \ge 0, y \ge 0$$
 (A.6)

$$\mathbf{y}g(\mathbf{z}) = 0 \tag{A.7}$$

$$\nabla f(\mathbf{z}) + \mathbf{x} \nabla g(\mathbf{z}) + \mathbf{u} \nabla h(\mathbf{z}) = 0$$
 (A.8)

where (A.7) is relevant to dual feasibility, and (A.8) refers to complementary slackness.

A.3 SDP Relaxation

SDP relaxation is a technique that relaxes non-convex constraint in rank-constrainted optimization problem [52],[53]. By applying SDP in optimization problems, we obtain an upper bound of the optimal value in the considered problem, since the rank constraint is removed. Generally, the obtained solution from this may not satisfy the original rank constraint, and hence we need to examine the tightness of the SDP relaxation so as to assure the solution's feasibility. This means that we need to prove the rank of the primal optimization matrix variable is one, and we can do it by utilizing the Lagrangian function and KKT conditions [54]. In particular, it is possible to have cases that the SDP relaxation is proven tight and also the solution is the globally optimal solution for the original problem [55].

Appendix B

Appendix B - Proof of Theorem 1

Strong duality of the transformed optimization problem can be shown by showing the problem is convex and satisfies the Slater's constraint qualification. By proving the strong duality, the solution of its dual problem is also applicable in its primary problem. In this sub-section, our aim is to prove the Problem 5 has a rank-one beamforming matrix. To achieve this, we need to define the Lagrangian function of the problem (c.f. Equation (B.1)):

$$L = \tau + \lambda_{1} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{K} ||w_{k}||^{2} \right] + \sum_{k=1}^{K} \lambda_{k} \left[-Tr(\boldsymbol{W}_{k}\boldsymbol{H}_{k}) + \mu_{req} \left(\sum_{j \neq k} Tr(\boldsymbol{W}_{k}\boldsymbol{H}_{k}) \right) \right] + \lambda_{3} \left[Tr(\boldsymbol{W}_{k}\boldsymbol{G}_{j}) - \mu_{max}^{tol} \left[\sum_{j \neq k} Tr(\boldsymbol{W}_{k}\boldsymbol{G}_{j}) \right] \right] + \lambda_{4} \left[-\mu_{j} * Tr \left(\boldsymbol{G}_{j} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{K} w_{k} \right) \right) \right] - \lambda_{6} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{K} Tr(\boldsymbol{W}_{k}\boldsymbol{Y}_{k}) \right] + \Delta$$
(B.1)

where Δ denotes the variables and the constants that are not dependent of W and hence they are irrelevant in the proof. Y and λ_1 , λ_k , $\forall k \in \{1, ..., K\}$, λ_3 , λ_4 , λ_6 are Lagrangian multiplier associated with constraints C7 and C1, C2, C3, C4, respectively.

In the next step, we explore the structure details of W by studying the Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) conditions. The required conditions that we needed for the proof are given by:

$$Y \ge 0, \ \lambda_1, \lambda_k, \lambda_3, \lambda_4 \ \lambda_6 \ge 0, \tag{B.2}$$

$$Y_k W_k = 0, \tag{B.3}$$

$$Y = -H + A \tag{B.4}$$

$$\boldsymbol{A} = \lambda_1[\boldsymbol{I}] + \mu_{\text{req}}\left(\sum_{j\neq k} \mathbf{H}_j \lambda_j\right) + \lambda_3 \left[\boldsymbol{G}_j - \mu_{max}^{tol}\left[\sum_{j\neq k} \boldsymbol{G}_j\right]\right] + \lambda_4 \left[-\mu_j \boldsymbol{G}_j\right] \quad (B.5)$$

$$H = -\lambda_k H_k \tag{B.6}$$

where (B.4) is obtained by taking the first derivative of (B.1) with respect to **W** and the details of **A** is also shown in (B.5). The conditions proposed in (B.2) are the complementary slackness property which implies the columns of matrix **W** fall into the null-space spanned by **Y** for $\mathbf{W} \neq 0$. Therefore, we can prove rank of the optimal beamforming matrix **W** is either one or zero, if Rank(Y) $\geq N_T - 1$ can be proved. Hence, we can study the structure of **Y** by examing (B.4).

As indicated in (B.4), **Y** is formed by the addition of **H** and **A**, and then this implies we need to understand each matrices separately in order to gain an understanding of **Y**. Firstly, we need to prove by contradiction that **A** is a positive definite matrix with probability one. If this is false, then **A** is a positive semi-definite matrix. In general, it has

at least one eigenvalue and the associated eigenvector is named as **v**. Without loss of geneality, a matrix $V = vv^H$ is formed from its eigenvectors. After that, if we multiply both sides of (B.4) with **V** and apply the trace operator, we can get

$$Tr(\mathbf{YV}) = -Tr(\mathbf{HV}) + Tr(\mathbf{AV}) = -Tr(\mathbf{HV})$$
(B.7)

An assumption in Theorm 1 is made that H and G are statistically independent, so we confirm Tr(HV) > 0, yet this creates a contradicton because Tr(YV) > 0. Since the relationship in (B.7) is not satisfied, matrix A is a positive definite matrix and its rank is a full matrix, i.e. $Rank(A) = N_T$.

Besides, it can be proved by the KKT conditions that constraint C2 in Problem 5 is satisfied with equality for the optimal solution and hence $\lambda_k > 0$. By examining (B.4), (B.5), (B.6) and some basic inequality for the rank of matrices, we obtain

$$Rank(\mathbf{Y}) + Rank(\mathbf{W}) \ge Rank(\mathbf{Y} + \lambda_k \mathbf{H}_k)$$
(B.8)
$$= Rank(\mathbf{A}) = N_T$$
$$\Rightarrow Rank(\mathbf{Y}) \ge N_T - 1$$

As a result, Rank(**Y**) can only be either N_T or $N_T - 1$, this implies that Rank(**W**) also can only be 0 or 1 respectively. However it is impossible for it to become 0 as this does not satisfy the minimum SINR requirement in C2. Therefore, Rank(**W**) = 1 is proofed and the rank-one solution can be contructed.